THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 18-0567 Polk County No. LACL128372

LARRY R. HEDLUND, Plaintiff-Appellant

vs.

STATE OF IOWA, K. BRIAN LONDON, COMMISSIONER OF THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY, Individually, CHARIS M. PAULSON, DIRECTOR OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION Individually, GERARD F. MEYERS, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR DIVISION OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION, individually, and TERRY E. BRANSTAD, Individually,

Defendants-Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE DAVID MAY

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DOES THE AVAILABILITY OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDY UNDER IOWA CODE SECTION 80.15 PRECLUDE HEDLUND FROM BRINGING A WHISTLEBLOWER ACTION UNDER IOWA CODE SECTION 70A.28?

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)

Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co. v. Milney, 424 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 1988)

Drainage District #119, Clay County v. Incorporated City of Spencer, 268 N.W.2d 493 (Iowa 1978)

Fees v. Mutual Fire and Automobile Insurance Co., 490 N.W.2d 55 (Iowa 1992)

Sandbulte v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 343 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1984)

Boles v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co., 494 N.W.2d 656 (Iowa 1992)

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986)

Williams v. Davenport Communications Limited Partnership, 438 N.W.2d 855 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989)

Walsh v. Wahlert, No. 17-0202, slip. op. (Iowa June 15, 2018)

Riley v. Boxa, 542 N.W.2d 519 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)

Iowa Code § 70A.28 (2017)

II. HAS HEDLUND PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT A REASONABLE FACT-FINDER MAY FIND THAT THE DEFENDANTS DISCRIMINATED AGAINST HIM BASED ON HIS AGE?

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973)

McElroy v. State, 703 N.W. 2d 385 (Iowa 2005)

Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv. Inc., 849 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)

Pippen v. State, 854 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)

Loras Coll. v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n, 285 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1979)

Wing v. Iowa Lutheran Hospital, 426 N.W.2d 175 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993)

Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Co., 530 U.S. 133 (2000)

Gossett v. Tractor Supply Company, Inc., 320 S.W.3d 776 (Tenn. 2010)

Weaver v. Diversicare Leasing Corp., 2014 WL 3734579 (Tenn. Ct. App. March 10, 2014)

Wells v. Colorado Department of Transportation, 325 F.3d 1205 (10th Cir. 2003)

Grigsby v. Reynolds Metals Co., 821 F.2d 590 (11th Cir. 1987)

United States Postal Service v. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711 (1983)

Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228 (1989)

DeBoom v. Raining Rose, Inc., 772 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)

Daugherty v. City of Maryland Heights, 231 S.W.3d 814 (Mo.2007)(legislatively abrogated)

Gross v. FBL Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167 (2009)

Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home, 457 S.E.2d 152 (W. Va. 1995)

Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 334 P.3d 541 (Wash. 2014)

City of Houston v. Proler, 373 S.W.3d 748 (Tex. App. 2012)

Fields v. New York State Office of Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities, 115 F.3d 116 (2d Cir.1997)

Cooley v. Carmike Cinemas, Inc., 25 F.3d 1325 (6th Cir. 1994)

Guthrie v. J.C. Penney Co., Inc., 803 F.2d 202 (5th Cir. 1986)

Greenberg v. Union Camp Corp., 48 F.3d 22 (1st Cir. 1995)

Cox v. Dubuque Bank & Trust Co., 163 F.3d 492 (8th Cir. 1998)

Strauch v. American Coll. of Surgeons, 301 F. Supp. 2d 839 (N.D. Ill. 2004)

Leonard v. Twin Towers, 6 Fed. Appx. 223 (6th Cir. 2001)

Mullen v. Princess Anne Volunteer Fire Co., Inc., 853 F.2d 1130 (4th Cir. 1988)

Coble v. Hot Springs Sch. Dist. No. 6, 682 F.2d 721 (8th Cir. 1982)

Waldron v. SL Indus., Inc., 56 F.3d 491 (3d Cir. 1995)

Gallo v. Prudential Residential Servs., 22 F.3d 1219 (2d Cir. 1994)

Quaratino v. Tiffany & Co., 71 F.3d 58 (2d Cir. 1995)

Austin v. Fuel Sys., LLC, 379 F. Supp. 2d 884 (W.D. Mich. 2004)

Landals v. George A. Rofles Co., 454 N.W.2d 891 (Iowa 1990)

Jeffrey A. Van Detta, 'Le Roi Est Mort; Vive Le Roi!': An Essay on the Quiet Demise of McDonnell Douglas and the Transformation of Every Title VII Case After Desert Palace, Inc. v. Costa into a 'Mixed Motives' Case, 52 DRAKE L. REV. 71 (2003).

Kerry R. Lewis, A Reexamination of the Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 26 TULSA L. J. 571 (1990)

The Honorable Timothy M. Tymkovich, *The Problem With Pretext*, 85 DENV.U.L.REV. 503 (2008)

Anne Lawton, *The Meritocracy Myth and the Illusion of Equal Employment Opportunity*, 85 MINN. L. REV. 587 (2000)

Robert Brookins, *Mixed Motives, Title VII and Removing Sexism from Employment: The Reality and the Rhetoric*, 59 ALB. L. REV. 1 (1995)

Ann c. McGinley, ¡Viva La Evolucion! Recognizing Unconscious Motive in Title VII, 9 CORNELL J. L. & PUB. POL'Y 415 (2000)

Linda Hamilton Krieger, *The Content of Our Categories: A Cognitive Bias Approach to Discrimination and Equal Employment Opportunity*, 47 STAN. L. REV. 1161 (1995)

III. HAS HEDLUND PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT A REASONABLE FACT-FINDER MAY FIND THAT THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT WAS OUTRAGEOUS?

Barreca v. Nickolas, 683 N.W.2d 111 (Iowa 2004)

Northrup v. Farmland Indus., Inc., 372 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1985)

Cutler v. Klass, Whicher & Mishne, 473 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 1991)

Smith v. Iowa State University of Science and Technology, 851 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014)

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 46 (1965).

Vinson v. Linn-Mar Community School Dist., 360 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa 1984)

Blong v. Snyder, 361 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa Ct. App. 1984)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents substantial questions of Iowa law and public policy regarding the application of Iowa's Whistleblower Statute, claims for Tortious Infliction of Emotional Distress, and the Iowa Civil Rights Act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 8, 2013, Larry Hedlund ("Hedlund") filed a Petition in the Iowa District Court for Polk County against Defendants ("the State"). He filed his Fourth Amended Petition on September 29, 2017. On October 5, 2017, the State filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all of Hedlund's claims. Oral argument was held on February 27, 2018. (APP.000066) On March 30, 2018, the district court, Honorable David May, issued an Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Hedlund's case in its entirety including his whistleblower claim under Iowa Code §70A.28, his claim for defamation against Governor Branstad, for tortious infliction of emotional distress and for age discrimination under the Iowa Civil Right Act, Iowa Code chapter 216. A Notice of Appeal was filed on April 2, 2018.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

OVERVIEW

Hedlund worked in the Iowa Division of Criminal Investigation ("DCI") for 25 years as one of its top criminal investigators. Throughout his tenure, he received high marks in all of his annual reviews, received dozens of letters of commendation from the public and law enforcement officials from around the state, and had *never* been reprimanded verbally or otherwise.

When Brian London ("London") became the Commissioner that changed. London wreaked havoc in the DCI, as well as the entire Department of Public Safety. Older workers were routinely demoted, terminated, threatened, or retired. They were replaced by neophytes, who had little experience in the rough-and-tumble realm of policing, where robust and heated exchanges were the norm. Among those who rose to the top were Charis Paulson ("Paulson"), who became the director of the DCI's Major Crimes Unit, and her assistant director Gerard Meyers ("Meyers"). Both were incompetent.

When Hedlund disagreed with a plan to reorganize the DCI and asked to take his complaints up the chain of command, he landed in Paulson and Meyers' crosshairs. To silence him, they concocted a story claiming that he

was insubordinate, discourteous and a detriment to the department – claims never documented anywhere. Paulson and Meyers met with London, the Attorney General's office, and officers from internal affairs and human resources to share their "concerns" on April 25, 2013. The next day, Hedlund blew the whistle on Governor Branstad's speeding SUV, which was travelling on Highway 20 doing a "hard 90." Five days later, Hedlund was suspended. Hedlund's suspension and subsequent termination caused a public outcry and generated scores of media reports that he was fired for blowing the whistle on Branstad's speeding vehicle. The day after Hedlund's termination, Branstad held a news conference falsely claiming it was necessary to fire Hedlund for the "morale and safety of the department." There was *nothing* in the now infamous 500-page internal affairs report to support the assertion that Hedlund was a risk to anyone.

Five days after Branstad publicly vilified Hedlund, Paulson slipped another document into Hedlund's now closed internal affairs file. This time, the story was fantastical: Hedlund was suicidal and homicidal.

Hedlund's Stellar Career

In 1988, Hedlund was hired by DPS as a Trooper with the Iowa State Patrol. Although he was new to the patrol, he excelled at it. (APP.000651) A year later, Hedlund was promoted to the DCI as a Special Agent, where he

received numerous accolades for his work, including the prestigious 2008 Law Enforcement Victim Service Award given by the United States Attorneys' Offices in Iowa. (APP.000757) He received the award because his "kindness, compassion, and willingness to 'go beyond the call of duty' to assist victims of crime were extraordinary and serve as an outstanding example for all of law enforcement." (*Id.*)

Throughout his tenure as a Special Agent, Hedlund also received glowing annual reviews often exceeding expectations in every area measured. (APP.000744, APP.000750, APP.000771, APP.000782, APP.000792, APP.000798) During his last four years as a Special Agent, Hedlund not only exceeded expectations four years in a row but exceeded expectations in every single category from 2007 through 2010 except one in which he met expectations. (*Id.*)

In 2010, Hedlund was promoted to Special Agent in Charge ("SAC"). The DCI is a paramilitary operation, whose primary mission is to assist local law enforcement agencies solve crimes when specialized investigative skills and resources are needed such as murders, kidnappings, white collar and cyber-crimes. (APP.000637) DCI Commissioner London was at the top of the chain of command and was appointed by and reported to Gov. Branstad. (APP.000473) The Commissioner's Executive Officer, Steve Ponsetto, was

the second in the chain of command and oversaw the directors of the various divisions, including the DCI, the State Patrol, Gaming, Cyber-crimes, the Fire Marshal, and Narcotics Enforcement. (*Id.*) The directors had assistant directors and the assistant directors had SACs. (*Id.*)

The SACs in the DCI were to serve as the "voice" of their agents and advocated for what they needed to perform their jobs in the field. (APP. 000627 ¶ 11) Their first duty was to "act on all requests for investigative assistance without delay," such as more manpower, weapons, lodging and other resources. (APP.000481) For the first two years under then Director John Quinn, Hedlund excelled as an SAC and received glowing reviews. (APP.000804; APP. 000215 p. 23:4-21) That changed when London became Commissioner and Paulson and Meyers became Hedlund's supervisors.

London's Reign

In September 2012, then Gov. Branstad appointed London to serve as the DPS Commissioner. (APP.000549) London had a penchant for firing and demoting older, seasoned veterans and replacing them with younger, less knowledgeable people to fill the top spots in the DCI and throughout the DPS. (APP.000305 pp. 25:1-7; 39:13-25; 40:1-23; APP.000635 ¶ 4-8; APP.000242 pp. 70:17-25, 71:1-5) (APP.000219 pp. 35:25, 36:1-18) London was a "tyrant" and a "bully," who would "flare up" in meetings

raise his voice, point fingers, and pound the table. (APP.000306 pp. 63:5-11; APP.000410 pp. 11:3-9, 12:2-10)

On September 4, 2013, less than 11 months after London was hired, Gov. Branstad determined that DPS "needed a fresh start" and asked for London's resignation. (APP.000207 pp. 87:13-25, 88:1-6) At the termination meeting, Gov. Branstad expressed his displeasure with the "incident with the speeding" referring to Hedlund. (APP.000327 p. 106:9-25)

Zone 3

The DCI's Major Crime Unit ("MCU") was divided into four zones across the state. When Hedlund became an SAC for the MCU, he commanded Zone 3, a 29-county area that stretched 28,000 square miles north to the Minnesota border and approximately every county east of I-35 and north of Highway 20. (APP.000626 ¶ 3) Zone 3 included some of Iowa's larger cities, including Waterloo, Dubuque, Cedar Falls, Fort Dodge, and Mason City. Geographically, it was also the largest zone. (*Id.*) Eight Special Agents were based in Zone 3 and reported directly to Hedlund. The Zone 3 agents were well regarded and considered a highly productive team. (*Id.*)

During Hedlund's tenure as SAC, there were numerous violent crimes in Zone 3 particularly in the summer, fall and winter of 2012. Among other things, two young female cousins were abducted in Evansdale in July 2012, stirring vast media attention and angst across the state. (APP.000236 p. 48:20-25) In the midst of this crime wave, London appointed Paulson to serve as the Director of the MCU. (APP.000485) Paulson then appointed her long-time friend, Meyers, to serve as the Assistant Director ("AD") (APP.000336-337 pp. 41:3-9, 62:24-25, 63:1-9)

Paulson was afraid to go up the chain of command and talk with her superiors about any potential issues broached by her subordinates. (APP. 000638 ¶5) Meyers was incompetent. Although Hedlund and the other SACs repeatedly complained to Paulson about Meyers, she was either unable or unwilling to force Meyers to do his job. (APP.000354 pp. 46:10-25, 47:1-25, 48:1-10; APP.000631 ¶2; APP.000366 pp. 110:10-25, 111:1-25; APP.000236-237 pp. 48:20-25, 49:13-25, 50:1-9, APP.000258 p. 135:13-25)

The February 13 Email

On February 6, 2013, Hedlund sent Meyers an email updating him on a criminal case involving a 20-month-old boy, whose body had been found in a creek. Hedlund explained that DNA recently collected from an inmate matched the DNA collected on the toddler's clothing. (APP.000422) *Six days later*, Meyers responded and asked for numerous pieces of information regarding the suspect. He stated he needed the information "as soon as possible" and "no later than tonight." (*Id.* p. 421)(emphasis added) This was true even though about half the agents in Zone 3 were preparing to testify in a murder trial and Meyers easily could have obtained the information himself. (APP.000314 pp. 43:21-25, 44:1-4) Hedlund provided him with the requested information within hours. (APP.000419) He also sent Meyers an email to express his opinion that Meyers was micromanaging the field agents and he was putting an undue burden on them. (APP.000420) Hedlund then emailed his agents about the situation and shared his email to Meyers with them. (APP.000419)

February 15, 2013 Meeting

On February 15, 2013 Hedlund and Meyers met at headquarters in Des Moines. (APP.000339 p. 99:13-15). Meyers broached the February 13, 2013 email Hedlund sent to his agents and told him that "he did not disagree with a single word in that email, but he didn't like seeing it on paper." (APP. 000243 p. 74:11-13) Meyers repeatedly told Hedlund that because he was in the "twilight of his career," he did not want to have issues with him. (APP. 000350 pp. 333:24-25, 334:1-7, 334:25, 335:1-5; APP.000254 p. 118:1-13) Although Meyers claimed he gave Hedlund a "verbal counseling," there was *nothing* placed in Hedlund's personnel file. (APP.000644-APP.000960) The meeting was not documented until May 28, 2013 when it was needed as justification for Hedlund's termination. (APP.000585)

The April 18 Conference Call

On April 18, 2013 Paulson, Meyers and the SACs held a conference call to discuss a plan to overhaul the MCU. The plan reduced the MCU from four zones to three. (APP.000626 ¶ 7) The redesign would cut the number of SACs and Special Agents in the field. (*Id.*) The only rationale Paulson gave for the drastic change was that it would be hard for her "to go to the Commissioner's office with a straight face and tell him that we are extremely busy and you look at our staff, our average cases per agent per year, you know, that's just not acceptable. You know I think our people can be doing more than they are." (APP.001056 p. 10; APP.000244 p. 79:15-21) The response to her statement was an audible "Wow" from one of the SACs. (APP.001056 p. 10)

The SACs were uniformly opposed to the plan. (APP.000355 p. 94:17-20) Each of them spoke candidly during the conference call about their opposition and their frustration that they had not been able to review the plan before the meeting. (APP.000361 pp. 51:18-25, 52:1-18) At the end of the April 18 phone conference, Paulson agreed to allow the SACs to study the proposal, discuss it with their agents, and discuss it again on April 23rd

during a quarterly SAC meeting. (APP.000360 pp. 45:21-25, 46:1-15) During the next few days, Hedlund and the other SACs discussed the proposal with each other and their agents.

The April 23, 2013 Meeting

On April 23, 2013 the SACs gathered at DMACC with Meyers and Paulson to discuss various items, including the plan to reduce the zones. The exchange was robust and the SACs made it clear that neither they nor their agents supported the plan. (APP.000626 ¶ 7; APP.000550) Among their concerns was that if the MCU was reduced to three zones, the zones would be much larger thereby increasing the time on the road and decreasing the time the agents spent at home and with their families potentially leading to agent burn-out. (APP.000362 pp. 54:18-25, 55:1-9; APP.000367 p. 120:7-18) It was a concern that all of the SACs shared. (*Id.* at 55:7-9)

SAC Bill Kietzman was the first to mention suicide in the context that reducing the zones from four to three could cause agent burn-out. (APP.000632 ¶ 6) Hedlund agreed and mentioned that a past colleague had killed himself and that stressed agents were more likely to commit suicide. (APP.000632 Aff. ¶ 6) Hedlund never said or did anything during that meeting that led Kietzman or the other SACs to believe he was a danger to himself or others. (*Id.*, APP.000363 p. 63:16-25; APP.000357 pp. 121:6-25,122:1-2; APP.000406 pp. 55:21-25, 56:1-4)

Eventually, the SACs agreed that if the four zones remained intact, each one of them would be responsible for one of the specialty areas that London was concerned with: financial crimes, cold cases, cybercrime and human trafficking. (APP.000248 p. 93:8-24) Hedlund volunteered for the cold case division. (APP.000247 p. 91:20-25, 92:1) Paulson told them she would take the proposal to the Commissioner and Meyers admonished them to start digging into their specialty areas quickly, stressing that he wanted immediate results. (*Id.* at 92:2-25, 93-95; APP.000530)

Hedlund's PSB Complaint Against Paulson

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