IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 18-0567

LARRY R. HEDLUND,

Plaintiff - Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA; K. BRIAN LONDON, COMMISSIONER OF THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY, Individually; CHARIS M. PAULSON, DIRECTOR DIVISION OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION, Individually; GERARD MEYERS, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR DIVISION OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION, Individually; and TERRY E. BRANSTAD, Individually,

Defendants - Appellees.

**APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE DAVID MAY, JUDGE**

**APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

**THOMAS J. MILLER
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**JEFFREY C. PETERZALEK
WILLIAM PEARSON
Assistant Attorneys General
Department of Justice

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

Federal courts interpreting the WPA have held that disclosures of violations of law that occur in the normal course of an employee's job duties (or were reported to the wrongdoers themselves) were not protected "disclosures" under the federal whistleblower statute. *See Willis v. Dep't of Agric.*, 141 F.3d 1139, 1144 (Fed. Cir. 1998) (holding plaintiff could not seek protection of whistleblower statute for "disclosures" of noncompliance of farms, since plaintiff's job duties included reporting noncompliance), *superseded in part by statute*, 5 U.S.C. § 2302(f)(2) (2012). In *Huffman v. Office of Personnel Management*, the court distinguished between three different situations: (1) where an employee has, as part of his normal duties, been assigned the task of investigating and reporting wrongdoing by government employees and, in fact, reports that wrongdoing through normal channels; (2) where an employee with such assigned investigatory

responsibilities reports the wrongdoing outside of normal channels; and (3) where the employee is obligated to report the wrongdoing, but such a report is not part of the employee's normal duties or the employee has not been assigned those duties. 263 F.3d 1341, 1352–54 (Fed. Cir. 2001), *superseded in part by statute*, 5 U.S.C. § 2302(f)(2). The *Huffman* court held that the first scenario is not protected by the WPA, but the latter two are. *Id.*

In 2012, Congress amended the statute, *see* 5 U.S.C. § 2302(f)(2), and courts interpreted the amendment to overrule portions of *Willis* and *Huffman*. However, Iowa's whistleblower statute has not been similarly amended, and pre-amendment federal decisions therefore remain persuasive authority for Iowa courts. *See Manahl v. State*, No. LACL131497, 2015 WL 13122452, at *5 (Iowa Dist. Ct. June 8, 2015) (“Iowa has included no such amendment to its Whistleblower Protection Statute. . . . Therefore, this court looks to the pre-amendment interpretations of the Federal Whistleblower Act as persuasive in addressing the motion before the court.”).³

³The Court of Appeals recently affirmed the dismissal of the whistleblower claim. *See Manahl v. State*, No. 16-2154, 2017 WL 4317318, at *9 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017).

Here, Hedlund testified that he believes his complaints were part of his job duties. In fact, he testified he was duty bound to file the complaints, including the one against himself, as a part of his duties as a law enforcement officer. Summary judgment should be affirmed on this issue because Hedlund's alleged disclosures are not protected activity under the Iowa whistleblower statute.

D. Section 70A.28 Only Contemplates Equitable Relief, and Hedlund's Jury Demand and Requests for Non-Equitable Relief Should Be Stricken.

Should the court decide to reverse the district court's grant of summary judgment on Hedlund's whistleblower claim, his demand for jury trial and requests for non-equitable relief must be stricken.

1. Hedlund has no right to a jury trial under section 70A.28(5).

"[T]he right to a jury trial preserved by the Iowa Constitution, article I, section 9, is the right that existed at common law." *Iowa Nat'l Mut. Ins. Co. v. Mitchell*, 305 N.W.2d 724, 728 (Iowa 1981). The Iowa Supreme Court has "recognized that there is no right to a jury trial generally in cases brought in equity." *Weltzin v. Nail*, 618 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 2000). Clearly, the present whistleblowing action did not exist at common law, as the court has observed a separate common law theory for retaliatory

discharge. *See Walsh*, 913 N.W.2d at 526. The issue, then, is whether a whistleblower action under section 70A.28(5) is equitable in nature.

When determining whether an action is legal or equitable in nature, the court considers “the pleadings, the relief sought, and the nature of the case.” *Carstens v. Cent. Nat’l Bank & Trust Co.*, 461 N.W.2d 331, 333 (Iowa 1990). Section 70A.28(5) grants “affirmative relief, including reinstatement, with or without back pay, or any other equitable relief the court deems appropriate, including fees and costs.” Iowa Code § 70A.28(5)(a). Significantly, the legislature declined to include “actual damages,” despite authorizing such damages for claims under the Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA). *See id.* § 216.15(a)(8). The court has interpreted “actual damages” under the ICRA to generate a right to a jury trial. *McElroy v. State*, 703 N.W.2d 385, 394 (Iowa 2005). If the legislature had intended to allow actual damages in a section 70.28(5) action, it would have so stated. Moreover, the Iowa Supreme Court has previously described section 70A.28(5)’s remedies as including “reinstatement of the discharged employee or other *equitable* relief, as well as attorney fees and costs.” *Worthington v. Kenkel*, 864 N.W.2d 228, 230–31 (Iowa 2004) (emphasis added).

Recently, an Iowa district court concluded that section 70A.28(5) does not require a right to a jury trial. *See Walsh v. Wahlert*, Polk Cty. Dist. Ct. No. LAACL130006 (Order, Aug. 31, 2018). The court noted, “The equitable nature of the remedy available under § 70A.28(5) is also borne out in the choice of factfinder designated by the legislature.” *Id.* The court emphasized the legislature selected the “court” to determine the relief, and such a designation is “consistent with the well-settled rule that cases brought in equity are tried to the court without a jury.” *Id.* Judge Huppert concluded that allowing a jury trial “with this legislative gloss would render this phrase superfluous.” *Id.*

As well, the Iowa Court of Appeals has interpreted an analogous provision, section 70A.29, to be equitable in nature. *See Zwanziger v. O’Brien*, No. 11-1548, 2012 WL 4513836, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 3, 2012) (unpublished). Given these well-reasoned decisions and the legislature’s deliberate omission of “actual damages,” an action under 70A.28(5) is best understood as equitable in nature and Hedlund’s jury demand must be stricken.

2. Hedlund is not entitled to non-equitable relief.

Relatedly, should summary judgment be reversed for Hedlund’s

whistleblower claim, his requests for non-equitable relief must be stricken. The remedial language of section 70A.28(5)(a) does not authorize non-equitable relief, and as discussed above, the legislature was aware and capable of providing litigants with actual damages. Indeed, when section 70A.28's civil remedies were added in 1989, the ICRA already provided for "actual damages," and the court had already interpreted that remedy to include emotional distress. *See Chauffeurs, Teamsters and Helpers, Local Union No. 238 v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 394 N.W.2d 375, 383 (Iowa 1986) (explaining "emotional distress is generally a compensable injury, and the language of the statute allows actual damages which are synonymous with compensatory damages"). If the legislature had wanted successful litigants to receive compensatory damages, it would have so provided.⁴ The

⁴A survey of similar whistleblowing statutes in other states reveals that when other state legislatures intend to authorize non-equitable relief, they do so expressly and specifically. *See, e.g.*, Ala. Code § 36-26A-5 (authorizing damages); Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 38-532D (authorizing "general and specific damages"); Cal. Gov't Code § 12653 (authorizing "all relief necessary to make that employee . . . whole" including compensation for special damages and punitive damages); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-50.5-105 (authorizing "damages . . . and . . . such other relief as [the court] deems appropriate"); Del. Code tit. 19, § 1704 (authorizing "actual damages"); Ga. Code § 45-1-4(e)(2) (authorizing "other compensatory damages allowable at law"); Haw. Rev. Stat. § 378-63 (authorizing "actual damages"); Idaho Code § 6-2106 (authorizing "other remuneration"); 740 Ill. Comp. Stat. 174/30 (authorizing damages); La. Rev. Stat. § 23:967 (authorizing damages); Mich.

legislature’s declination must be afforded weight.

Beyond the legislative context of section 70A.28(5)(a), the plain language of the provision instructs only equitable remedies are available. The comma placements in the provision dictate that “other equitable relief” modifies the phrase “affirmative relief.” Reinstatement is an equitable remedy, and the provision authorizes the *court* to determine whether *other* equitable remedies are also appropriate. Moreover, the use of the word “other” necessarily implies that the “affirmative relief” previously authorized is equitable relief. If “affirmative relief” contemplated non-equitable relief, the word “other” would serve no purpose in the statute. “In interpreting a statute, each term is to be given effect, and we ‘will not read a statute so that any provision will be rendered superfluous.’ ” *Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc.*, 814 N.W.2d 512, 520 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Thoms v. Iowa*

Comp. Laws § 15.364 (authorizing “actual damages”); Minn. Stat. § 181.935 (authorizing “any and all damages recoverable at law”); Miss. Code § 25-9-175 (authorizing damages); Mo. Rev. Stat. § 105.055(7)(4) (authorizing “actual damages”); N.J. Stat. § 34:19-5 (authorizing “[a]ll remedies available in common law tort actions”); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 126-86 (authorizing damages); 28 R.I. Gen. Laws § 28-50-4(a) (authorizing “actual damages”); S.C. Code § 8-27-30(A) (authorizing “actual damages not to exceed fifteen thousand dollars” in a nonjury civil action); Tenn. Code § 50-1-304(c)(1) (authorizing “any other damages”); Texas Gov’t Code § 554.003(a) (authorizing “actual damages”); Utah Code § 67-21-4(1)(a) (authorizing damages); W. Va. Code § 6C-1-4(a) (authorizing damages).

Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys., 715 N.W.2d 7, 15 (Iowa 2006)). Because the legislature did not provide for actual damages despite doing so in other provisions, and the plain language of the statute reveals that “affirmative relief” is equitable relief, Hedlund’s requests for non-equitable relief must be stricken.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON HEDLUND’S AGE DISCRIMINATION CLAIM.

Standard of Review: Grants of summary judgment are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *Walsh v. Wahlert*, 913 N.W.2d 517, 521 (Iowa 2018).

Preservation of Error: For the same reasons discussed above, the State does not contest that error is preserved and will discuss each of the independent grounds that require affirming the grant of summary judgment.

Argument:

A. Hedlund Was Not Terminated.

The District Court granted the Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on Hedlund’s age discrimination claim, determining Hedlund had not presented evidence from which a reasonable jury could infer age discrimination. (Ruling p. 38; App. 191). The District Court also found that

while Hedlund had a right to appeal (in fact did appeal) his termination, that a jury could still find that he had been terminated. (Ruling p. 31; App. 184). However, this determination is contrary to section 80.15 and the undisputed facts of this case.

It is undisputed that on July 17, 2013, Hedlund received notice of the Department's intent to terminate him. Pursuant to that notice and Iowa Code section 80.15, Hedlund appealed that decision. Section 80.15 requires that the officer receive full salary and benefits until the culmination of the EAB appeal. It is further undisputed that Hedlund abandoned his appeal under section 80.15 and, on January 29, 2014, prior to any termination taking affect, retired under chapter 97A, the Peace Officers' Retirement System.

It is further undisputed that Hedlund received all pay and benefits he was entitled to up until the time he chose to retire. This Court acknowledged Hedlund retired from Employment with the DPS in *Hedlund v. State*, 875 N.W.2d 720, 723 (Iowa 2016). Hedlund has not claimed of forced retirement or constructive discharge. (ICRC Complaint p. 1, Defs' S.J. App. p. 5; App. 6). To the extent that Hedlund's claim relies upon termination as the adverse employment action, Defendants are entitled to summary judgment.

B. Hedlund Failed to Exhaust His Administrative Remedies for Forced Retirement, Disparate Impact, or Harassment.

In his Third Amended Petition Hedlund claims he was subject to age discrimination. (Third Am. Petition, Count VI; App. 27–28). To pursue his discrimination claims Hedlund must first exhaust his administrative remedies. *McElroy*, 703 N.W.2d at 390–91 (holding plaintiff failed to exhaust administrative remedies on retaliation claim when she failed to check box and narrative did not mention retaliation). To exhaust administrative remedies under the ICRA, a party must first file a timely administrative complaint with the Commission and then obtain a right-to-sue letter. Iowa Code § 216.16. Hedlund filed his civil rights complaint on January 27, 2014. (ICRC Complaint p. 1, Defs’ S.J. App. p. 5; App. 6). He claimed the adverse employment action as “disciplined/suspended” and “terminated.” (*Id.*). Exhaustion of administrative remedies requires “a claimant to give notice of *all* claims in the initial administrative complaint.” *McElroy*, 703 N.W.2d at 390 (emphasis added).

Importantly, Hedlund only filed a civil rights claim against the DPS and Meyers, his direct supervisor. (ICRC Complaint pp. 2-3, Defs’ S.J. App. pp. 6-7; App. 7–8). He did not file a claim against Paulson or London claiming they discriminated against him. (*Id.*). The undisputed evidence

shows Paulson made the decision to serve Hedlund with a notice of termination and London approved that decision. (Paulson Depo. p. 329:15-20, Defs' S.J. App. p. 127; App. 394). Meyers was not involved in any way with the decision to terminate Hedlund but was asked for his input. (Meyers Depo. pp. 325:10-326:24, Defs' S.J. App. p. 113; App. 349). To the extent that any of Hedlund's claims rely upon actions of Paulson or London, those claims have also not been preserved.

As discussed above, Hedlund retired. Hedlund did not check the "forced to quit/retire" or "harassment" boxes as the basis for his civil rights complaint. (ICRC Complaint p. 1, Defs' S.J. App. p.1; App. 6). The narrative in his ICRA complaint mentions no fact that could be construed as asserting a forced retirement claim or a harassment claim. (ICRC Complaint p. 5, Defs' S.J. App. p. 9; App. 10). And, he never amended his complaint to include these additional allegations. Hedlund failed to exhaust his administrative remedies on any issue alleging forced retirement or harassment. Summary judgment is warranted on this basis alone.

C. *McDonnell Douglas* is a Valid and Longstanding Analytical Tool for Courts to Employ on Summary Judgment.

Hedlund conducts a pained analysis of the history of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis and argues that this Court should not

“adopt” it as the standard. His argument, however, completely ignores that: (1) Hedlund’s age discrimination claim did not fail because the District Court used the *McDonnell Douglas* analytical framework; (2) it is the framework adopted and applied by Iowa courts for decades; (3) there is no case that supports his claim the Iowa Supreme Court has abandoned it. It is also noteworthy that Hedlund’s “authority” in support of abandoning the *McDonnell Douglas* framework consists of a few older law review articles, inapposite cases and cases where the *McDonnell Douglas* framework was utilized by the court.

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